The Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia

# Operational Upgrade, Darwin Detention Facility, Berrimah, NT

Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public Works

August 2005 Canberra © Commonwealth of Australia 2005 ISBN 0642786577

# Contents

Membership of the Committee	V
List of Abbreviations	vi
Extract from the Votes and Proceedings of the House of Representatives	vii
List of Recommendations	. viii

# REPORT

1	Introduction	1
	Referral of Work	1
	Background	1
	Existing Facilities	1
	Location	2
	Inquiry Process	2
	Public Hearing	3
2	The Proposed Works	5
	Purpose	
	Need	5
	Options Considered	
	Scope	6
	Project Delivery	
	Cost	8

3	Issues and Conclusions	9
	Project Costs	9
	Cost of Existing Facilities	9
	Undetermined Costs	
	The Need for the Work	
	Use of Existing Facilities	11
	Detainee Numbers	13
	Scope of Works	14
	Provision for Families and Women with Children	14
	Use of Demountable Buildings	
	Parking Facilities	17
	Project Delivery	17
	Present and Prospective Public Value of Works	
	Public Consultation	
	Consultation with Territory and Local Government	
	Proposed Name Change	21
	Visual Impact	
	Shared Use of Defence Land	
	Opportunities for Local Business and Industry	23

## APPENDICES

Appendix A – List of Submissions	25
Appendix B – List of Witnesses	27
Appendix C – Submission No. 1 from the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs	29
Appendix D – Official Transcript of Evidence	69

iv

# **Membership of the Committee**

Chair	Hon Judi Moylan MP
-------	--------------------

Deputy Chair Mr Brendan O'Connor MP

Members Mr John Forrest MP

Mr Harry Jenkins MP

Mr Bernie Ripoll MP

Mr Barry Wakelin MP

Senator Alan Ferguson Senator the Hon Judith Troeth Senator Dana Wortley

# **Committee Secretariat**

Secretary	Mrs Margaret Swieringa
Inquiry Secretaries	Ms Vivienne Courto
Research Officer	Mr Raymond Knight
Administrative Officer	Mr Peter Ratas

# List of Abbreviations

AFMA	Australian Fisheries Management Authority
AGO	Australian Greenhouse Office
BCA	Building Code of Australia
DDF	Darwin Detention Facility
DEB	Defence Establishment Berrimah
DIMIA	Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs
DoFA	Department of Finance and Administration
DSP	Detention Service Provider
EPBC Act	Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999
IDS	Immigration Detention Standards
IFFs	Illegal Foreign Fishers
IRPC	Immigration Reception and Processing Centre
OH&S	Occupational Health and Safety

# Extract from the Votes and Proceedings of the House of Representatives

### No. 33 dated Thursday, 26 May 2005

15 PUBLIC WORKS—PARLIAMENTARY STANDING COMMITTEE— REFERENCE OF WORK—OPERATIONAL UPGRADE OF THE DARWIN DETENTION FACILITY, NORTHERN TERRITORY

Dr Stone (Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister for Finance and Administration), pursuant to notice, moved – That, in accordance with the provisions of the Public Works Committee Act 1969, the following proposed work be referred to the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public Works for consideration and report: Operational upgrade of the Darwin detention facility, Northern Territory.

Debate ensued.

Question – put and passed.

# List of Recommendations

### 3 Issues and Conclusions

#### **Recommendation 1**

In order to ensure appropriate scrutiny of expenditure, the Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs supply the Committee with regular updates on project costs throughout the operational upgrade of the detention facility.

#### **Recommendation 2**

In view of the inadequacy and inappropriateness of the plans for the proposed family zone at the detention facility, the Committee strongly recommends that families including women and children are not detained at the facility.

#### **Recommendation 3**

In the event that there is a demonstrated need for the short-term detention of families at the detention facility, the Committee recommends that, in order to ensure appropriate provision of security, amenity and space for families, women and children, the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs better utilise available space to enlarge the proposed family zone, which should include appropriate separation of all facilities, adequate indoor recreation space and a secure outdoor area of a suitable size to accommodate the relocated play equipment from the existing large, grassed recreation area.

In order to ensure appropriate scrutiny of the proposed works, the Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs supply the Committee with an update on the proposed delivery methodology and the application of Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines to this process, when this information becomes available.

#### **Recommendation 5**

The Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs conduct a public meeting in respect of the proposed works to provide the local community members with the opportunity to learn about, and comment upon, the proposal.

#### **Recommendation 6**

In recognition of the importance of appropriate local consultation on Commonwealth developments, the Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs undertake consultation with the relevant Northern Territory Government agencies throughout the execution of the proposed works to ensure an acceptable outcome for all parties.

#### **Recommendation 7**

The Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs continue to consult with the office of the Northern Territory Chief Minister to find an appropriate alternative name for the upgraded detention facility.

#### **Recommendation 8**

The Committee recommends that the proposed operational upgrade of the detention facility at Berrimah, NT, proceed at the estimated cost of \$8.125 million. <u>x</u>\_\_\_\_\_

# 1

# Introduction

# **Referral of Work**

- 1.1 On 26 May 2005 the proposal to undertake an operational upgrade of the Darwin Detention Facility (DDF) at Berrimah, NT, was referred to the Public Works Committee for consideration and report to the Parliament in accordance with the provisions of the *Public Works Committee Act 1969* (the Act).<sup>1</sup> The proponent agency for this work is the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs (DIMIA).
- 1.2 The Hon Dr Sharman Stone MP, Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister for Finance and Administration, advised the House that the estimated cost of the proposed works was \$8.21 million. She reported that, subject to parliamentary approval, work was scheduled to commence in September 2005, with completion anticipated for mid-2006.

# Background

# **Existing Facilities**

1.3 On 23 August 2001 the Government announced plans to increase the contingency capacity for detaining unauthorised boat arrivals by establishing facilities at a number of sites, including HMAS *Coonawarra* at Defence Establishment Berrimah (DEB). Work on this facility commenced

<sup>1</sup> Extract from the *Votes and Proceedings of the House of Representatives*, No. 33, Wednesday, 26 May 2005

in late August 2001, creating contingency accommodation for 250 detainees by December 2001 and accommodation for a further 400 from March 2002.<sup>2</sup> The facility is currently used by the Department of Defence and other agencies on the understanding that immigration detention requirements take precedence.<sup>3</sup>

1.4 The existing facility comprises two separate compounds with individual sally port entry and perimeter fencing consisting of two 3.6 metre chain wire fences with razor wire in between at ground level.<sup>4</sup> The southern compound has the capacity to accommodate 400 people in 43 demountable accommodation units. Each unit consists of four to five two-person rooms containing a double bunk, wardrobe and table, and 28 of the rooms have ensuites. The southern compound also includes two ablution blocks, a laundry and two large multi-purpose buildings.<sup>5</sup> The northern compound accommodates 250 persons and comprises 32 demountable accommodation units, with four rooms per building. Each two-person room includes an ensuite, double bunk, wardrobe and table. The compound also contains two large multi-purpose buildings.<sup>6</sup>

# Location

1.5 The proposed upgraded detention facility will be located within the northern compound of the existing contingency detention facility (formerly known as *Coonawarra*) at DEB, Stuart Highway, Darwin.

# **Inquiry Process**

- 1.6 The Committee is required by the Act to consider public works over \$6 million<sup>7</sup> and report to Parliament on:
  - the purpose of the work and its suitability for that purpose;
  - the need for, or the advisability of, carrying out the work;

6 ibid, paragraphs 27 - 28

<sup>2</sup> Appendix C, Submission No. 1 from the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs, paragraph 19

<sup>3</sup> ibid, paragraph 22 and Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 3

<sup>4</sup> ibid, paragraphs 25 and 30

<sup>5</sup> ibid, paragraphs 26 - 28

<sup>7</sup> Public Works Committee Act 1969, Part III, Section 18 (8)

- whether the money to be expended on the work is being spent in the most cost effective manner;
- the amount of revenue the work will generate for the Commonwealth, if that is its purpose; and
- the present and prospective public value of the work.<sup>8</sup>
- 1.7 The Committee called for submissions by advertising the inquiry in the *Northern Territory News* on Monday, 30 May 2005. The Committee also sought submissions from relevant government agencies, local government, private organisations and individuals, who may be materially affected by or have an interest in the proposed work. The Committee subsequently placed submissions and other information relating to the inquiry on its web site in order to encourage further public participation.

# **Public Hearing**

1.8 On Monday, 18 July 2005 the Committee travelled to the Darwin Detention Facility at DEB and inspected at first hand the scope and environs of the proposed works. Later that day, the Committee received a commercial-in-confidence briefing on project costs from DIMIA, and held a public hearing at the Northern Territory Legislative Assembly, Darwin.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>8</sup> Public Works Committee Act 1969, Part III, Section 17

<sup>9</sup> See Appendix D for the official Hansard transcript of the evidence taken by the Committee at the public hearing held on Monday, 18 July 2005 in Darwin

# 2

# **The Proposed Works**

# Purpose

2.1 The purpose of the proposed work is to establish a safe and secure landbased detention facility for illegal foreign fishers (IFFs) apprehended in Australia's northern waters.<sup>1</sup>

# Need

- 2.2 According to DIMIA, illegal foreign fishing in Australia's northern waters has been increasing in recent years and this trend is expected to continue. In 2004-05, some 1,350 IFFs were apprehended – an increase of 425 on the 2002-03 figure. Most of those apprehended were Indonesian nationals; all were male and seven to nine per cent were minors. Around 340 – or 25 per cent – of the total were charged with fishing offences and 100 have served, or are serving, prison sentences.<sup>2</sup>
- 2.3 The Australian Fisheries Management Authority (AFMA) and DIMIA have statutory obligations to detain IFFs. AFMA may detain IFFs for up to seven days to investigate breaches of fisheries legislation, while DIMIA detains to establish the individual's right to remain in Australia and to have individuals available for repatriation.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Appendix C, Submission No. 1, paragraph 1

<sup>2</sup> ibid, paragraphs 6 - 8

<sup>3</sup> ibid, paragraph 11

- 2.4 At present, AFMA manages detention of IFFs on their vessels until investigation and charging. This arrangement is becoming increasingly difficult to manage and has been criticised by the Indonesian Consulate in Darwin, public scrutiny bodies and a Northern Territory coronial inquiry.<sup>4</sup>
- 2.5 In recognition of the difficulties associated with boat-based detention, the Government announced the operational upgrade of the existing contingency immigration detention facility at DEB in January 2005. It is intended that this facility will serve as the central detention facility for northern Australia and will be commissioned as a joint AFMA/DIMIA facility, pending the finalisation of a number of legal issues. It is envisaged that, in addition to IFFs, the facility will accommodate Northern Territory immigration compliance cases and unauthorised air arrivals, some of whom are women and children.<sup>5</sup>

# **Options Considered**

- 2.6 The northern compound of the existing contingency detention facility has been selected for upgrade because:
  - it contains the largest grassed outdoor recreation area; and
  - it has a greater amount of space for construction of the additional buildings required to operate the facility on an ongoing basis.<sup>6</sup>

# Scope

- 2.7 To meet AFMA and DIMIA operational requirements, it is proposed that the northern compound of existing contingency immigration detention accommodation at DEB will be upgraded to serve as a permanent detention centre. In order for the detention service provider (DSP) to meet the requirements of the *Immigration Detention Standards* (IDS), a range of new and additional facilities are required, including:
  - additional buildings or modification of existing demountables to support delivery of IDS;<sup>7</sup>

- 6 ibid, paragraph 31
- 7 ibid, paragraphs 58a and 59 90

6

<sup>4</sup> Appendix C, Submission No. 1, paragraphs 2 – 5 and 12 - 13

<sup>5</sup> ibid, paragraphs 15 - 18

- refurbishment of existing administration building;<sup>8</sup>
- provision of improved amenity and safety for detainees, including illumination of pathways, cyclone provisions and recreational equipment;<sup>9</sup>
- improved security, including monitoring and additional fencing;<sup>10</sup> and
- upgrade and modification of existing site services.<sup>11</sup>

# **Project Delivery**

2.8 DIMIA's main submission states that

...subject to Government approval, DIMIA proposes to procure the buildings and infrastructure in accordance with the Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines.<sup>12</sup>

No specific information on the proposed project delivery mechanism is provided.

- 2.9 DIMIA intends that the facility should be operational by mid 2006.<sup>13</sup>
- 8 Appendix C, Submission No. 1, paragraph 58b
- 9 ibid, paragraphs 58c, 99 102 and 109
- 10 ibid, paragraphs 58d and 103 108
- 11 ibid, paragraphs 58e and 91 98
- 12 ibid, paragraph 135
- 13 ibid, paragraph 133

# Cost

2.10 DIMIA estimates the cost of the proposed work to be \$8.215 million, based on "preliminary design work".<sup>14</sup>

<sup>14</sup> ibid, paragraph 132

# 3

# **Issues and Conclusions**

# **Project Costs**

# **Cost of Existing Facilities**

- 3.1 DIMIA reported that works to establish the existing contingency detention facility at DEB commenced in August 2001 and were completed by March 2002.<sup>1</sup> The cost of this project was \$7.4 million.<sup>2</sup>
- 3.2 At the public hearing of 18 July the Chair drew DIMIA's attention to the statutory requirement for Commonwealth agencies to refer all works estimated to cost in excess of \$6 million to the Committee for consideration and report. Upon this basis, the Committee asked the Department why the initial contingency facility works had not been referred. DIMIA explained that it had received advice to the effect that

...the vast majority of the cost was associated with the purchase of second-hand demountable buildings and that demountable buildings did not meet the definition of permanent structures for the purpose of referral to the Public Works Committee.<sup>3</sup>

3.3 The Chair observed that the exclusion of demountable buildings from works project budgets had presented problems for the Committee on a number of occasions. As a consequence, on 1 July 2004, a regulation to the Act was gazetted stating that temporary buildings and structures, and demountable buildings and structures, are now specifically included in

<sup>1</sup> Appendix C, Submission No. 1, paragraph 20

<sup>2</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 3

<sup>3</sup> ibid, page 4

the definition of a public work.<sup>4</sup> Whilst acknowledging that the regulation to the Act was made after the completion of initial works to the then *Coonawarra* Detention Facility, the Deputy Chair stated for the record that, in general, the Committee would prefer

... that the assumption was that when money is spent it goes before a parliamentary committee and it is not assumed that it does not have to.<sup>5</sup>

# **Undetermined Costs**

3.4 Based on preliminary design work, it is estimated that the proposed operational upgrade of the DDF will cost some \$8.215 million.<sup>6</sup> According to Section 18(9) of the Public Works Committee Act 1969:

*estimated cost*, in relation to a public work, means an estimate of cost made when all particulars of the work substantially affecting its cost have been determined.

- 3.5 The Committee noted that DIMIA's main submission contained a significant number of undetermined matters, which may be expected to impact upon the overall project cost. These factors, which remained unresolved at the time of the public hearing, included
  - the exact nature of enhancements to the existing security systems and fences;<sup>7</sup>
  - the possible establishment of the Dining and Recreation Facility (Building 8) as an emergency cyclone shelter;<sup>8</sup>
  - the provision of either a new or second-hand demountable kitchen building;<sup>9</sup>
  - the amount of new furniture and equipment that will be required, and how much existing furniture and equipment will be able to be re-used;<sup>10</sup>
  - the energy management measures to be incorporated into the design.<sup>11</sup>

- 6 Appendix C, Submission No. 1, paragraph 132
- 7 ibid, paragraphs 46 and 103 107
- 8 ibid, paragraphs 42 and 72
- 9 ibid, paragraph 73
- 10 ibid, paragraph 109
- 11 ibid, paragraphs 128 130

<sup>4</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence

<sup>5</sup> ibid, page 4

- 3.6 Whilst cognisant of the difficulties associated with estimating project budgets under modern procurement arrangements, the Chair emphasised the need for agencies to supply the most robust and comprehensive costs available in order for the Committee to carry out its statutory role as a scrutineer of public expenditure.<sup>12</sup> To this end, the Committee requested that DIMIA supply a final revised budget estimate when all matters relating to projects costs have been determined, and to supply updates on an ongoing basis as the project progresses.
- 3.7 Subsequent to the hearing, DIMIA supplied its most recent cost estimate material.

In order to ensure appropriate scrutiny of expenditure, the Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs supply the Committee with regular updates on project costs throughout the operational upgrade of the detention facility.

# The Need for the Work

### **Use of Existing Facilities**

- 3.8 DIMIA's main submission reported that the current arrangement, under which IFFs are detained on their vessels until investigation and charging, has become increasingly difficult to manage and has been criticised by the Indonesian Consulate in Darwin, public scrutiny bodies and a Northern Territory coronial inquiry.<sup>13</sup>
- 3.9 According to DIMIA, the existing detention facility at DEB was established in 2001 expressly to provide "contingency" accommodation. On Wednesday 29 May 2002 DIMIA informed the Senate Legal and Constitutional Committee that the then *Coonawarra* facility

<sup>12</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 15

<sup>13</sup> Appendix C, Submission No.1, paragraphs 2 – 5 and 12 - 13

...has been ready to use for some time. We have had processes in place to use it.  $^{\rm 14}$ 

DIMIA noted at that time that the only outstanding works required included perimeter lighting, which was complicated by the proximity of the facility to Darwin airport, and some voice and data communications work. Further, DIMIA's submission to the current inquiry confirmed that the existing 650-bed facility

...is currently available for use by the Department of Defence, on the understanding that immigration detention requirements take precedence. Defence and other Government agencies have used the facility on a number of occasions since its establishment.<sup>15</sup>

- 3.10 The Committee was also informed that the *Coonawarra* facility incurred average annual operating costs of some \$118,000, despite the fact that it had never been used to house detainees.
- 3.11 In view of this evidence, and the urgent requirement to end boat-based detention following the deaths of two detainees, the Committee sought to understand why DIMIA had not hitherto used the *Coonawarra* contingency facility for detention purposes.
- 3.12 DIMIA replied that the *Coonawarra* facility had only ever been intended to serve as a transit centre where detainees could be held temporarily, prior to transfer to an established detention centre elsewhere in Australia. DIMIA added that:

The other important element of the current facility in Darwin is that it does not meet immigration detention standards.<sup>16</sup>

3.13 In order to clarify this point, the Committee sought further information on the nature of the IDS and how the Darwin facility fails to satisfy these. DIMIA explained that the IDS are a set of conditions included in the Detention Services Contract which relate to the care of detainees, rather than to the infrastructure specifications of detention centres. DIMIA added that it was currently investigating the establishment of infrastructure standards in response to recommendations made by the Committee following its inquiry into the Maribyrnong Immigration Detention Centre. The existing Darwin facility fails to meet requirements

<sup>14</sup> Senate Legal and Constitutional Committee, Official Hansard Transcript of Evidence, Wednesday 29 May 2002, page 495

<sup>15</sup> Appendix C, Submission No.1, paragraph 22

<sup>16</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 6

as it does not have catering or medical facilities and does not provide adequate security.<sup>17</sup>

3.14 Considering the \$7.4 million establishment cost, the Committee wished to know why the centre had not been fully equipped to accommodate detainees from the outset. DIMIA responded that in 2001 the Department and Government had been faced with an influx of unauthorised boat arrivals and a shortage of accommodation and had needed rapidly to provide basic facilities.<sup>18</sup> The original facilities had been constructed to Building Code of Australia (BCA) standards and meet a basic level of safety, but the current proposal would provide improved accommodation, recreational, catering and medical facilities, and culturally appropriate ablutions.<sup>19</sup> At the Committee's request, DIMIA subsequently provided a copy of the Detention Services Contract containing the IDS.

# **Detainee Numbers**

- 3.15 It is proposed that the upgraded Darwin Detention Facility will serve as the central facility for northern Australia. <sup>20</sup> It is anticipated that, in addition to accommodating IFFs, the facility will also house compliance cases and unauthorised air arrivals, of which there are approximately 50 cases per year in Darwin.<sup>21</sup>
- 3.16 DIMIA's submission referred to an increase in the number of IFFs apprehended, from 925 in 2002 2003 to 1,350 in 2004 2005 and stated that

...there is a significant risk that the level of illegal fishing will escalate.<sup>22</sup>

3.17 At the public hearing, the Committee wished to determine the appropriateness of the proposed provision of 250 beds at the DDF, and sought further information regarding the number of IFFs detained in Australia. DIMIA responded that on 15 July 2005, there had been 70 IFFs held in various centres. From 1 January to 15 July 2005 DIMIA apprehended 109 vessels carrying a total of 844 fishers, 121 of whom had been charged. An AFMA representative added that:

<sup>17</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 11

<sup>18</sup> ibid, page 6

<sup>19</sup> ibid, page 11

<sup>20</sup> Appendix C, Submission No.1, paragraph 16

<sup>21</sup> ibid, paragraph 18

<sup>22</sup> ibid, paragraphs 6 and 8

The highest peak we have had is just over 250 people when we ran an operation in Gove, so the numbers have fluctuated between, say, a minimum of a dozen people and up to 250 people being investigated at any one time.<sup>23</sup>

- 3.18 In respect of compliance cases and unauthorised air arrivals, DIMIA reported that the figure of 50 per year was generally indicative of the load, which fluctuated from year to year depending upon operations.<sup>24</sup>
- 3.19 In order to satisfy itself as to the need for the provision of a 250-bed facility, the Committee requested that DIMIA supply it with statistics on the number of, and current detention arrangements for, IFFs and other detainees apprehended in the Northern Territory. At the time of report drafting, this information was yet to be supplied.

# **Scope of Works**

# Provision for Families and Women with Children

- 3.20 DIMIA's main submission stated that, whilst the majority of detainees held at DDF would be IFFs, it would also house compliance cases and unauthorised air arrivals apprehended in the Northern Territory, some of whom may be women and children. DIMIA therefore proposes that Area D, comprising an accommodation block, a laundry and a shaded outdoor recreation space, should serve as the 'Female/Juvenile Detainee Zone if required.<sup>25</sup>
- 3.21 During an in-camera briefing on cost and security matters, DIMIA confirmed that there may be some requirement to hold families with children at the centre for processing purposes, but added that this would be for a very short time. The facilities to be provided for such cases would be located within a fenced compound, comprising separate sleeping accommodation and two small recreation rooms.
- 3.22 During its inspection of the site, the Committee noted that the area earmarked for families was very small, despite the size of the DDF site, and does not provide access to the DDF's largest, grassed recreation area, which contains children's play equipment surrounded by soft-fall

<sup>23</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 8

<sup>24</sup> ibid, pages 9 - 10

<sup>25</sup> Appendix C, Submission No.1, paragraph 18 and Annexure 4

material. When questioned about the possibility of moving the play equipment to the family area, DIMIA expressed doubt that it would be economically viable, given the low numbers of families expected.

- 3.23 The Committee was also made aware of concerns expressed by residents at DEB regarding the potential security risks associated with the proximity of the detention facility to on-base accommodation. In view of this, the Committee wished to ensure the safety of any women and children detained within the facility itself; noting that appropriate separation of detainee categories had been a driving force behind the proposed extension and reconfiguration of the Maribyrnong Immigration Detention Centre, which was subject of a report tabled by the Committee in May 2005.<sup>26</sup>
- 3.24 The Committee is of the view that the proposed arrangements for families with children are inadequate and remains concerned to ensure that any families, women and children detained at the DDF will be guaranteed an appropriate level of security, amenity and space, including access to separate indoor/outdoor recreation and dining facilities.

#### **Recommendation 2**

In view of the inadequacy and inappropriateness of the plans for the proposed family zone at the detention facility, the Committee strongly recommends that families including women and children are not detained at the facility.

<sup>26</sup> See Report into Provision of Facilities for Maribyrnong Immigration Detention Centre Additional Accommodation and Related Works, Maribyrnong, Victoria, 25 May 2005

In the event that there is a demonstrated need for the short-term detention of families at the detention facility, the Committee recommends that, in order to ensure appropriate provision of security, amenity and space for families, women and children, the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs better utilise available space to enlarge the proposed family zone, which should include appropriate separation of all facilities, adequate indoor recreation space and a secure outdoor area of a suitable size to accommodate the relocated play equipment from the existing large, grassed recreation area.

## Use of Demountable Buildings

- 3.25 It is DIMIA's intention to relocate second-hand demountable buildings from the decommissioned Immigration Reception and Processing Centre (IRPC) at Curtin, WA for use in the DDF upgrade project<sup>27</sup>. DIMIA's submission proposed that relocated, second-hand demountables would be used for the Visits Centre (Building 10), Interview Building (Building 11), DSP Offices (Building 12), Officer Station (Building 2), Dry Goods Store (Building 6), Medical Centre (Building 4), and possibly the Kitchen (Building 7).<sup>28</sup> DIMIA intends that new demountable buildings would be used for the Visitor Reception, Processing and Screening Building (Building 9), Staff Toilets (Building 5) and possibly the Kitchen (Building 7), while existing on-site demountables would be utilised for the Dining and Recreation Facility (Building 8), the Detainee Induction/Processing and Property Store (Building 3) and accommodation (Buildings 15 and 16).<sup>29</sup>
- 3.26 The Committee wished to know why the use of demountable buildings was preferred and whether the decision represented the best value-formoney on a whole-of-life cost basis. DIMIA explained that the decision had been driven chiefly by the urgency of the project and would also ensure that the new and second-hand demountables would age at approximately the same rate as the existing buildings on-site, which are around six years old, but have rarely been used. It is anticipated that the

<sup>27</sup> Appendix C, Submission No.1, paragraph 34

<sup>28</sup> ibid, 61 - 80

<sup>29</sup> ibid, paragraphs 61, 70, 73, 77, 84 and 87

demountables at the upgraded facility will provide some eight to ten years of use.<sup>30</sup>

3.27 Subsequent to the public hearing, the Department supplied the Committee with a comprehensive life cycle cost model of DIMIA's detention centres, completed in November 2002 by Quantity Surveyors and Cost Consultants, Milliken Berson Madden. The analysis showed temporary construction to cheaper over the first five years of facility life, the cost differential to be marginal between five and ten years and permanent construction to be substantially cheaper from year ten onwards.<sup>31</sup>

# **Parking Facilities**

3.28 In respect of car-parking for the upgraded DDF, DIMIA submitted that:

Car parking is currently available in the Defence car park and continued use of this area has been agreed with Defence.<sup>32</sup>

3.29 The Committee asked how DIMIA had determined the requirement for car-parking spaces at the facility and sought assurance that the proposed arrangements would be adequate. DIMIA stated that, based on a brief analysis, it did not anticipate a large number of visitors to the centre and believed that the existing car-park would cater adequately both for staff, and for Defence needs if required. DIMIA added that the car-park at the front of the facility would be included in the land transfer offered by Defence, and that Defence would establish a new car-park for its own use.<sup>33</sup>

# **Project Delivery**

- 3.30 In respect of the methodology to be employed for the delivery of the proposed upgrade works, DIMIA submitted that it proposes to procure the buildings and infrastructure in accordance with the Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines, but supplied no further detail as to how this would be achieved.<sup>34</sup>
- 3.31 The Committee sought assurance that DIMIA would be able to manage the proposed works given that, in February 2003, responsibility for the

<sup>30</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 18

<sup>31</sup> Letter and supplementary information from Mr Michael Robinson, Director, Detention Infrastructure Development Section, DIMIA, 29 July 2005

<sup>32</sup> Appendix C, Submission No.1, paragraph 100

<sup>33</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, pages 20 - 21

<sup>34</sup> Appendix C, Submission No.1, paragraph 135

construction of the re-specified Christmas Island IRPC was transferred from DIMIA to the Department of Finance and Administration (DoFA), due to DoFA's greater expertise in the construction of major projects.<sup>35</sup> DIMIA responded that the decision to transfer management of the Christmas Island work to DoFA had been part of a whole-of-government policy of consolidating expertise in very large infrastructure projects in a single agency. DIMIA added that this did not apply to small projects, such as the proposed DDF upgrade.<sup>36</sup>

- 3.32 The Committee asked DIMIA to elaborate on how, and by whom, the proposed upgrade project would be managed, and the specific delivery methodology that would be employed. DIMIA replied that its first step would be to engage a project manager, who would develop delivery options for consideration. Given the urgency of the project, DIMIA anticipates that the works could be tendered as a number of separate, industry- specific packages, to be executed concurrently.
- 3.33 The Committee requested that DIMIA provide an update on how it intends to apply the Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines to the delivery of the works once the details have been determined.

<sup>35</sup> Senate Finance and Public Administration Committee, Official Hansard Transcript of Evidence, Wednesday, 28 May 2003, pages 360 - 371

<sup>36</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 5

In order to ensure appropriate scrutiny of the proposed works, the Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs supply the Committee with an update on the proposed delivery methodology and the application of Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines to this process, when this information becomes available.

# **Present and Prospective Public Value of Works**

# **Public Consultation**

- 3.34 Given the nature of the proposed development, the Committee was surprised to receive no submissions from members of the public,<sup>37</sup> and noted further that DIMIA's main submission did not mention any public consultation undertaken in respect of the work. The Committee asked the Department to elaborate on any opportunities that had been provided to enable public comment. The Department responded that it had undertaken consultation with a range of Commonwealth and Territory government agencies, and intended to conduct meetings with Defence personnel residing at DEB. A meeting with the Darwin City Council was also planned.<sup>38</sup>
- 3.35 In respect of the original detention facility works undertaken in 2001, DIMIA explained that it had consulted with Territory and local government bodies, the Department of Defence and Defence families, but had not conducted any public meetings.
- 3.36 The Committee expressed the view that:

...it would be suitable for the Department to consider, beyond the dialogue required with Defence and the intergovernmental consultation required...allowing for people to express concerns if there are any.<sup>39</sup>

<sup>37</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 24

<sup>38</sup> ibid, pages 16 - 17

<sup>39</sup> ibid, page 17

The Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs conduct a public meeting in respect of the proposed works to provide the local community members with the opportunity to learn about, and comment upon, the proposal.

# Consultation with Territory and Local Government

- 3.37 The Committee was concerned by statements from representatives of both the Northern Territory Government and the Darwin City Council to the effect that DIMIA had engaged in very little consultation with those bodies. The Northern Territory Government attested that it had never been consulted regarding the conversion of the temporary Coonawarra facility to a permanent detention centre, adding that there was community concern regarding the social impact of the DDF, and that there was potential for the facility to place an additional burden on government services. Specifically, the Northern Territory Government reported that issues had been raised by the Territory police force and the Department of Health and Community Services, both of which were concerned that the proposed development may impact upon their resources. The Northern Territory Government stressed the requirement for the relevant Commonwealth agencies to consult closely with it regarding these matters from the commencement of the project.<sup>40</sup>
- 3.38 DIMIA assured the Committee of its intention to develop memoranda of understanding with a number of Northern Territory agencies, including the police and the Department of Health and Community Services.<sup>41</sup>

<sup>40</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 23

In recognition of the importance of appropriate local consultation on Commonwealth developments, the Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs undertake consultation with the relevant Northern Territory Government agencies throughout the execution of the proposed works to ensure an acceptable outcome for all parties.

3.39 The Darwin City Council also informed the Committee that it had not been consulted by DIMIA about the development, despite the location of the works within the Darwin City municipality.<sup>42</sup> The Council was, however, satisfied with DIMIA's commitment to meet with Council representatives in the near future.<sup>43</sup>

# Proposed Name Change

3.40 The Committee received a submission from the Northern Territory Chief Minister expressing concern that the name of the detention facility had been changed from *Coonawarra* to Darwin Detention Facility. The Chief Minister stated that the proposed change did not assist her Government's efforts to promote Darwin as an attractive destination for visitors.<sup>44</sup> Representatives of the Northern Territory Government reiterated this concern at the public hearing, stating that the name change seemed unnecessary and that it

...might in the future attract negative publicity and generate unhelpful images.  $^{\rm 45}$ 

- 3.41 The Committee observed that, while detention centres in Sydney and Melbourne are named after the suburbs in which they are located, the detention centre in Perth is known as the Perth Detention Centre.<sup>46</sup>
- 3.42 A representative of the Department of Defence explained that the name HMAS *Coonawarra* had recently been transferred to the Darwin Naval Base, and could no longer be used at DEB.<sup>47</sup>

<sup>42</sup> Volume of Submissions, Submission No. 3, Darwin City Council

<sup>43</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 23

<sup>44</sup> See *Volume of Submissions*, Submission No. 2, Northern Territory Government, Office of the Chief Minister

<sup>45</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 23

<sup>46</sup> ibid, page 25

3.43 DIMIA confirmed that it could no longer use the name *Coonawarra*, but stated that it would undertake further consultation to find an appropriate alternative name.<sup>48</sup>

### **Recommendation 7**

The Committee recommends that the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs continue to consult with the office of the Northern Territory Chief Minister to find an appropriate alternative name for the upgraded detention facility.

## **Visual Impact**

- 3.44 Despite DIMIA's assertion that that the proposed DDF site is generally not visible from public roads, <sup>49</sup> both the Northern Territory Chief Minister and the Darwin City Council raised concerns relating to the visual impact of the site on the Stuart Highway.<sup>50</sup> The Darwin City Council suggested that further landscaping may help to mitigate the visual impact of the facility. At the public hearing, the Northern Territory Government also stated that it would be appreciative if greater effort could be put into landscaping the site perimeter, as the Stuart Highway forms the primary road access route into Darwin.<sup>51</sup>
- 3.45 DIMIA stated that it had made plans for further landscaping along the Stuart Highway perimeter of the facility prior to receiving the submissions from the Northern Territory Government and the Darwin City Council. The Department undertook to consult with both bodies to ensure that the landscaping satisfies their requirements.<sup>52</sup>

# Shared Use of Defence Land

3.46 Noting that the DDF will be located on Defence-owned land at DEB, the Committee was concerned to ensure that this arrangement would not prove to be problematic in terms of safety, access or shared use of services.

<sup>47</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, page 31

<sup>48</sup> ibid, page 34

<sup>49</sup> Appendix C, Submission No. 1, paragraph 55

<sup>50</sup> See *Volume of Submissions*, Submission No. 2, Northern Territory Government, Office of the Chief Minister and Submission No. 3, Darwin City Council

<sup>51</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, pages 23 and 25

<sup>52</sup> ibid, page 34

- 3.47 DIMIA explained that it currently leased the land free-of-charge from Defence, and added that it was currently engaged in discussions with Defence regarding the purchase of the DDF site and the subsequent establishment of a new, discrete access point. This arrangement would, however, require negotiation with the Northern Territory Government and the execution of traffic studies, so DIMIA did not anticipate that it would occur before the upgraded DDF becomes operational. <sup>53</sup>
- 3.48 At the public hearing, a representative for the Department of Defence stated that DIMIA had consulted closely with Defence in respect of both the original contingency detention facility and the current proposal, and anticipated that the land transfer deal would be concluded in the 2005-06 financial year.
- 3.49 In respect of site services, Defence explained that, while electricity, water and sewerage were currently supplied by DEB, a study had been commissioned to investigate the separate supply of these utilities to the DIMIA site. Negotiations between DIMIA and Defence regarding this matter are ongoing.<sup>54</sup>

# **Opportunities for Local Business and Industry**

- 3.50 Subject to the capacity of local industry, DIMIA anticipates that the majority of the construction workforce will be engaged locally. At the public hearing, the Northern Territory Government encouraged the involvement of local businesses and workers in the construction and operation of the upgraded facility.<sup>55</sup>
- 3.51 When questioned on this matter by the Committee, DIMIA replied that its

...experience in other parts of Australia has been that our detention service provider generally draws employees and goods and services from the local community.<sup>56</sup>

3.52 In respect of the construction phase of the project, DIMIA stated that it would have to abide by the Commonwealth procurement guidelines, but would advertise tenders for the works in the local newspaper as well as in the *Australian* and, on the Internet, through AusTender. DIMIA expressed the belief that local companies would benefit from the splitting of the

<sup>53</sup> Appendix D, Official Transcript of Evidence, pages 19 - 20

<sup>54</sup> ibid, page 33

<sup>55</sup> ibid, pages 23 - 24

<sup>56</sup> ibid, page 36

project into a number of smaller work packages, and from the proximity to the site of labour and materials.<sup>57</sup>

# **Recommendation 8**

The Committee recommends that the proposed operational upgrade of the detention facility at Berrimah, NT, proceed at the estimated cost of \$8.125 million.

**Hon Judi Moylan MP** Chair 17 August 2005

# Α

# **Appendix A – List of Submissions**

# **Submissions**

- 1. Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs
- 2. Northern Territory Government Chief Minister's Office
- 3. Darwin City Council
- 4. Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs (Supplementary)
- 5. Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs (Supplementary)

# Β

# **Appendix B – List of Witnesses**

Mr Rodney Applegate, Acting Executive Director, Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Environment, Northern Territory Government

Mr John Banks, Acting Chief Executive Officer, Darwin City Council

Mr Noel Barnsley, Territory Director, Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs

Mr David Doherty, Assistant Secretary, Detention Contract and Infrastructure Branch, Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs

Alderman Helen Galton, Deputy Lord Mayor, Darwin City Council

Brigadier Peter Hutchinson, Director General, Infrastructure Asset Development, Department of Defence

Ms Annette Keenan, Director, Unauthorised Arrivals and Illegal Foreign Fishers Task Force, Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs

Ms Britt Maxwell, Director, Northern International Fisheries, Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry

Mr Tim McClelland, Director, Policy and Coordination Unit, Department of the Chief Minister, Northern Territory Government

Mr Paul Murphy, General Manager, Operations, Australian Fisheries Management Authority

Mr Michael Robinson, Director, Detention Infrastructure Development Section, Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs Mr Rohan Wilson, Senior Manager, Compliance Policy, Australian Fisheries Management Authority

# С

Appendix C – Submission No. 1 from the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs



Appendix D – Official Transcript of Evidence